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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ALABAMA 

MIDDLE DIVISION 
 
ROBERT H. HEPTINSTALL, et al. ) 
      ) 
   Plaintiffs,  ) 
      ) CIVIL ACTION NO. 

v.          ) 
      ) CV-06- CLS-1564-M 
MONSANTO COMPANY,   )  
INC., et al.     ) 
      ) 
   Defendants.  ) 
       

PLAINTIFFS’ RESPONSE TO PHARMACIA CORPORATION, 
MONSANTO COMPANY, INC., MONSANTO COMPANY SALARIED 

EMPLOYEES’ PENSION PLAN, MONSANTO EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
PLAN COMMITTEE, MONSANTO COMPANY EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, SOLUTIA, INCORPORATED, AND 
SOLUTIA INC. EMPLOYEES’ PENSION PLAN’S MOTIONS TO DISMISS 

 

COME NOW, Plaintiffs, Robert H. Heptinstall (“Robert Heptinstall”), 

Wendell E. Sims (“Wendell Sims”), James L. Collins (“Larry Collins”), Fred 

Dewayne Works (“Fred Works”), Thomas Ferrell Campbell (“Thomas 

Campbell”), James Russell Newman (“Russell Newman”), and Jacky T. Blackwell 

(“Jacky Blackwell”)1 as individuals and as representatives on behalf of a putative 

class and plan and file their response to motions to dismiss submitted by Monsanto 

Company, Inc. (the New Monsanto Company, Inc.), Pharmacia f/k/a Monsanto 

                                                           
1Plaintiffs, Robert Heptinstall, Wendell Sims, Larry Collins, and Russell Newman presently 
reside in Marshall County, Alabama.  Plaintiff, Fred Works, presently resides in DeKalb County, 
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Company, Inc. (“Old Monsanto”),2 the Monsanto Company Salaried Employees’ 

Pension Plan, the (“Monsanto Pension Plan”), the Monsanto Employee Benefits 

Plan Committee, the (“Committee”), the Monsanto Company Employee Benefits 

Executive Committee, the (“Executive Committee”), Solutia, Inc. (“Solutia”) and 

the Solutia Inc. Salaried Employees’ Pension Plan,3 the (“Solutia Pension Plan”).4  

Plaintiffs brought this action for violation of the Employee Retirement Income 

Security Act of 1974, as amended, 29 U.S.C. §§ 1001 et. seq. (“ERISA”) in the 

operation of an alleged qualified defined benefit plan maintained by “Old 

Monsanto”.     

 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
Alabama.  Plaintiff, Thomas Campbell, presently resides in Colbert County, Alabama.  Plaintiff, 
Jacky Blackwell, presently resides in East Palestine, Ohio.  
2 On September 1, 1997, pursuant to a Distribution Agreement, “Old” Monsanto Company, Inc. 
a/k/a Pharmacia spun-off its chemical business as Solutia, Inc.2 (SAC ¶¶ 8-11). On December 19, 
1999 Monsanto Company, Inc. entered into a merger agreement with Pharmacia & UpJohn, Inc., 
pursuant to which a wholly owned subsidiary of Monsanto Company, Inc. merged with and into 
Pharmacia & UpJohn, Inc. with Pharmacia & UpJohn, Inc. remaining as a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Monsanto Company, Inc.  In connection with the merger Monsanto Company, Inc. 
changed its name from Monsanto Company, Inc. to Pharmacia Corporation.  On February 9, 
2000, Monsanto Ag Company, Inc. was incorporated as a wholly owned subsidiary of Pharmacia 
and assets and liabilities related to Monsanto Company, Inc.’s agricultural business were 
transferred to the Monsanto Ag Company.  Monsanto Ag Company changed its name to 
Monsanto Company, Inc., “New Monsanto” agreeing to indemnify Pharmacia, “Old Monsanto” 
for certain liabilities assumed by Solutia at their spin-off to the extent that Solutia fails to pay, 
perform or discharge those liabilities. See Exhibits A-H. 
3 Plaintiffs’ inadvertently listed the Solutia Inc. Employees’ Plan instead of the Solutia Inc. 
Employees’ Pension Plan in the heading of the Second Amended Complaint; this a typographical 
error.  The proper parties were served with a Summons and Second Amended Complaint 
correctly identifying the Defendants. (Solutia Defendants’ Memorandum in Support of Motion to 
Dismiss Second Amended Complaint “SMD”at p. 1; R 94).  See [R 67, 68, 74, 94]. 
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STATEMENT OF CASE 

A. Statement of Claims 

The complaint filed in the present action consists of six counts for 

“appropriate equitable relief” and under § 204(g)(1), § 409, and § 510 for the 

violation of ERISA in the operation of the Monsanto Pension Plan, a defined 

benefit pension plan.  Specifically, Plaintiffs bring claims under § 204(g), § 409, 

and § 510 for the failure to follow the explicit directives setout in ERISA §§ 101-

105; § 202 (a)(3)(A); § 203(a)(2)(A), § 203(a)(3)(C); §§ 203(b)(1) & (b)(2)(A); § 

203(c)(1)(A), § 203(c)(1)(B); § 204(b)(1)(C) & (G) resulting in the operation of 

the pension plan in a discriminatory manner.  See Department of the Treasury, 

Internal Revenue Service “IRS”, Publication 794 (Rev. August 1982); 26 C.F.R. § 

1.401(a)(4)-1 to § 1.401(a)(4)-11; Varity Corporation v. Howe, 516 U.S. 489 

(1996); Firestone Tire & Rubber Company v. Bruch, 489 U.S. 101 (1989); Central 

Laborers’ Pension Fund v. Heinz, 541 U.S 739 (2004); Jones v. American General 

Life and Accident Insurance Company, 370 F.3d 1065 (11th Cir. 2004); Smith v. 

Wynfield Dev. Co., Inc., No. 06-11810 (11th Cir. 2007); Lyons v. Georgia Pacific 

Corp. Salaried Employees Retirement Plan, 221 F.3d 1235 fn 8 (11th Cir. 2000); 

Vartanian v. Monsanto Co., 14 F.3d 697 (1st Cir. 1994)     

                                                                                                                                                                                           
4 In 2006 when the instant action was filed Solutia was under bankruptcy protection.  Solutia and 
the Solutia Pension Plan were added as Defendants after Solutia exited bankruptcy in February 
2008.  
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Defendants in violation of ERISA and IRC mandates have operated the Plan 

in favor of highly compensated employees, HCEs, and against nonexempt, non-

HCE participants, by closing the Sand Mountain plant to cause forfeiture of 

accruing and accrued benefits, by not reporting non-HCE participants with a 

separated deferred vested benefit on Form 5500, by failing to furnish non-HCE 

participants with benefit statements, by revisiting eligibility to intentionally 

interfere with rights and benefits of non-HCEs, by applying a later adopted 

amendment to a determination of credited service to intentionally divest non-HCE 

participants of their otherwise nonforfeitable accrued benefit under a predecessor 

plan, by failing to give proper notice of the right to judicial review when denying 

non-HCE participants’ their property, by spinning-off non-HCE retiree liability to 

subsidiaries for recapture by HCEs, by engaging in fraud and deceit and employing 

litigation to conceal and/or secure forfeiture of accrued benefits belonging to 

nonexempt non-HCE participants, and for failing to properly maintain and/or 

destroying documents necessary to non-HCE participants’ obtainment of rights and 

benefits under ERISA.  (SAC ¶¶ 127, 129- 134, 136-7). 

B. Plaintiffs Credited Service Under the 1976 Pension Plan 

 Section 1.1 of the 1976 Pension Plan and 1981 Pension Plan states: 

The rights and benefits of any other person entitled to benefits under 
the Predecessor Plans shall be determined in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of the Predecessor Plan in effect at the time of 
the cessation of such person’s active participation . . . in such 
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Predecessor Plan whether by termination of employment, retirement, 
cessation or loss of eligible status, or otherwise, except as required by 
applicable law or regulation, or except as specifically provided or 
changed by subsequent amendments, including this amendment. [R 
83-6]. 

 
Plaintiffs maintain they are vested under the 1976 Pension Plan, the plan in place 

when they went on “layoff” and the plan in place when they were terminated in 

1982. (SAC ¶¶ 67-72).  Plaintiffs maintain that the applicable law or regulation 

governing alleged qualified pension plans determines the plan which controls and 

not the administrator. ERISA 29 U.S.C. §§ 1001 et. seq.  Plaintiffs maintain they 

have a nonforfeitable accrued benefit derived from their employer contribution 

under the 1976 Pension Plan that cannot be considered forfeitable by a later 

adopted amendment.  ERISA 203(a)(3)(C).  Plaintiffs maintain it is the Court’s 

proper role to determine questions of statutory interpretation and to determine 

whether they are entitled to “appropriate equitable relief” under a de novo standard.  

See e. g. La Rocca v. Borden, Inc. 276 F.3d 22, 26 (1st Cir. 2002); Coan v. 

Kaufman, No. 04-5173 (2nd Cir. 2006) citing Burke v. Kodak Retirement Income 

Plan, 336 F.3d 103, 111 (2d Cir. 2003), cert. denied, 540 U.S. 1105 (2004); 

Wilkins v. Mason Tenders District Council Pension Fund, 445 F.3d 572, 581 (2nd 

Cir. 2006) citing Long v. Flying Tiger Line, Inc. Fixed Pension Plan for Pilots, 994 

F.2d 692, 694 (9th Cir.1993); Rhorer v. Raytheon Eng'rs & Contractors Inc., 181 

F.3d 634, 639 (5th Cir. 1999)(applying de novo standard to question of law for 
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breach of fiduciary duty under Section 502(a)(2); Silvernail v. Ameritech Pension 

Plan, 439 F.3d 355 (7th Cir. 2006) citing Small v. Chao, 398 F.3d 894, 897 (7th 

Cir. 2005); Calhoon v. Trans World Airlines, Inc. 400 F.3d 593 (8th Cir. 2005) 

citing Parke v. First Reliance Standard Life Insur. Co., 368 F.3d 999, 1006 (8th 

Cir.2004); Mathews v. Chevron Corp., 362 F.3d 1172 (9th Cir. 2004) citing Shaver 

v. Operating Eng'rs Local 428 Pension Trust Fund, 332 F.3d 1198, 1201 (9th Cir. 

2003).  Plaintiffs maintain it is for the Court to decide whether ERISA’s standards 

for operating an alleged qualified defined benefit pension plan have been violated 

by Defendants’ operation of the pension plan in a way as to cause forfeiture of 

otherwise nonforfeitable accrued benefits.   

 C. Parties 

Plaintiffs are former employees of Monsanto Company, Inc., “Old 

Monsanto” a/k/a Pharmacia Corporation, employed at the Sand Mountain plant 

near Guntersville, Alabama. (SAC ¶¶ 2, 18-29, 44).  The Sand Mountain plant 

produced continuous filament nylon and polyester yarn. (SAC ¶ 44).  Plaintiffs, on 

their first day of employment with “Old Monsanto”5 at the Sand Mountain plant in 

August 1972, were all considered participants in the Monsanto Pension Plan, an 

“employee pension benefit plan” maintained by Monsanto for its salaried 

                                                           
5 Herein Plaintiffs refer to the original Monsanto Company, Inc. [EIN # 43-0420020] a/k/a 
Pharmacia as “Old Monsanto or Monsanto” and its successor entity the new Monsanto 
Company, Inc. as “New Monsanto” incorporated in 2000 [EIN # 43-1878297] and its other 
successor entity Solutia, Inc. [EIN # 43-1781797] as “Solutia”.   
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employees6.  (SAC ¶ 29).  The effective date of the Monsanto Pension Plan is 

December 30, 1940.  (Exhibit “Exh.” A at p. 1; see also Bryant v. Avado Brands, 

Inc. 187 F.3d 1271 (11th Cir. 1999)(holding a court can take judicial notice of 

publicly filed documents when considering a motion to dismiss citing Fed. R. Evid. 

201)).  “Old Monsanto” maintained an “employee benefit plan” or “plan”7 that 

incorporated along with other welfare benefit plans the Monsanto Pension Plan. 

ERISA § 3(3).  Throughout the years “Old Monsanto” amended its Pension Plan 

from time to time as to certain covered groups of employe(e)s and set forth each 

amendment in separate documents as separate plans, the 1951 Pension Plan, the 

1956 Pension Plan, the 1961 Pension Plan, the 1971 Pension Plan, the 1976 

Pension Plan, the 1981 Pension Plan, etc.  (SAC ¶¶ 34, 67-9; R 83-6 § 1.1).  Each 

time “Old Monsanto” amended its Pension Plan it amended the “employee benefit 

plan” and furnished participants with a summary plan description “SPD”.8  The 

                                                           
6 The term “employee pension benefit plan” and “pension plan” mean any plan, fund, or program 
which was heretofore or is hereafter established or maintained by an employer or by an 
employee organization, or by both, to the extent that by its express terms or as a result of 
surrounding circumstances such plan, fund, or program – (i) provides retirement income to 
employees, or (ii) results in a deferral of income by employees for periods extending to the 
termination of covered employment or beyond, . . . regardless of the method of calculating the 
contributions made to the plan, the method of calculating the benefits under the plan or the 
method of distributing benefits from the plan. ERISA § 3(2)(A). 
7 Under ERISA the term “employee benefit plan” or “plan” means an employee welfare benefit 
plan or an employee pension benefit plan or a plan which is both an employee welfare benefit 
plan and an employee pension benefit plan.”  ERISA § 3(3).   
8 The 1971 employee benefit plan, which incorporated the 1971 Monsanto Pension Plan was 
published to participants in the summary plan description “MONSANTO and You”.  The 1976 
employee benefit plan which incorporated the 1976 Monsanto Pension Plan was published to 
participants in the summary plan description “YOUR BENEFITS Monsanto”.  The 1981 
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1971 Monsanto Salaried Employees’ Pension Plan, the 1971 Pension Plan, was 

amended, restated and continued as the 1976 Monsanto Salaried Employees’ 

Pension Plan, the 1976 Pension Plan, in response to the enactment of the Employee 

Retirement Insurance Security Act “ERISA”. (SAC ¶¶ 34-5).  The 1976 Pension 

Plan was conformed to final regulations under ERISA in July 1979, and a 

favorable Internal Revenue Service “IRS” Determination Letter was issued 

November 7, 1979, and received November 13, 1979. (SAC ¶ 65); see also Bryant, 

187 F.3d 1271.  Assets of the Monsanto Salaried Employe(e)s’ Pension Plan 1976 

were collectively invested in The Monsanto Company Master Retirement Trust 

(“Master Retirement Trust”) with the assets of certain other “Old Monsanto” 

pension plans under a Master Trust Agreement.  (Exh. A at pp. 5, 12).  The named 

trustee for the Master Trust is The Northern Trust Company, 50 South LaSalle 

Street, Chicago Illinois 60675.  Id.  Each participating plan is entitled to an interest 

in the Master Trust’s net assets and net earnings, although not necessarily an 

interest in the individual Trust assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  Id.  

On September 1, 1997, pursuant to a Distribution Agreement, “Old 

Monsanto” a/k/a Pharmacia spun-off its chemical business as Solutia.9 (SAC ¶¶ 8-

11; Exh. B at p. 25).  In 1998 assets belonging to retirees and future retirees of 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
employee benefit plan which incorporated the 1981 Monsanto Pension Plan was published to 
participants in the summary plan description “BENEFITS … for Monsanto people”.  (SAC ¶ 
39). 
9 Solutia, Inc. EIN # 43-1781797 
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Monsanto and Monsanto’s chemicals group assigned to Solutia were held in the 

Monsanto/Solutia Group Trust with the Northern Trust Company remaining as the 

named trustee.  Exh. B at p. 2.  As of November 2, 1998, assets in the Group Trust 

were split into Monsanto Company Master Trust and the Solutia, Inc. Master Trust 

and on this date assets attributable to former employees of Monsanto’s chemical 

group were transferred to Solutia Master Trust.  (Exh. B at p. 18).  The effective 

date of the Solutia Pension Plan is December 30, 1940. (Exh. C at p. 1).  The 

Solutia Pension Plan after the spin-off is severely under funded failing to meet 

even the minimum funding requirements under ERISA requiring quarterly 

employer contributions to the plan in 2005 and 2006.10  (Exh. C & D at p. 3; see 

also ERISA § 302).  The now defunct Sand Mountain plant is a former business 

operated by “Old Monsanto” as part of its chemicals group.  (SAC ¶ 9).  “Old 

Monsanto” also operated a plant in Decatur, Alabama as part of its chemicals 

group. (SAC ¶ 10).  As a result of the spin-off some, but not all, former employees 

of the now defunct Sand Mountain plant and participants of the Monsanto Pension 

Plan are now participants of the Solutia Pension Plan. (SAC ¶ 104).  Documents 

from Sand Mountain were stored in the basement of the plant in Decatur, Alabama, 

now a Solutia plant, until the interlocutory appeal in the related case Gilley v. 

                                                           
10 The other successor entity, the new Monsanto Company, also had to make contributions to its 
pension plan in 2006.  (Exh. E at p. 4).  
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Monsanto CV 04-562 was filed, and then the documents were shredded.  (SAC ¶ 

103). 

D. Background 

 The Sand Mountain plant in Marshall County, Alabama began production of 

nylon filament on January 14, 1972. (SAC ¶¶ 18, 19).  The Sand Mountain plant 

was a continuous operation plant producing nylon and polyester filament 24 hours 

a day seven days a week operating on a rotating shift schedule. (SAC ¶¶ 44-5).  

Plaintiffs were all salaried nonexempt employees, “hourly workers” by the Fair 

Labor Standards Act “FLSA”. (SAC ¶ 30).  Plaintiffs as salaried “nonexempt” 

employees received a base salary for working the rotating shift schedule that 

included mandatory overtime on Sunday on first shift. (SAC ¶¶ 30, 46).  The 

rotating shift schedule consisted of seven continuous days on first shift (eight a.m. 

to four p.m.), seven continuous days on second shift (four p.m. to midnight), seven 

continuous days on third shift (midnight until eight a.m.) followed by seven days 

on first shift etc. with two off days between each shift.  (SAC ¶ 45).  Nonexempt 

employees worked holidays if the holiday was included in the rotating shift 

schedule notwithstanding employees were entitled to nine holidays per calendar 

year.  (SAC ¶¶ 48-52).  Nonexempt employees were entitled to comparable time 

off for working required overtime on holidays in lieu of additional holiday pay 

above time and a half. Id.  Nonexempt employees working the rotating shift 
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schedule were required to work 254 regular (eight hour) days per calendar year and 

a total of 273 calendar days per year.  Nonexempt employees were entitled to ten 

days of annual leave, five sick days, and three personal leave days per calendar 

year. (SAC ¶¶ 48-9).  “Old Monsanto’s” general policy at the Sand Mountain plant 

in 1972 was to encourage nonexempt “production level” employees to work as 

much overtime as possible.  (SAC ¶ 53).  Plaintiffs and others worked substantial 

amounts of overtime in 1972 in addition to mandatory overtime incorporated into 

the rotating schedule.11 (SAC ¶ 54). 

E. The Monsanto Pension Plan from 1972 to 1982 

The 1971 Pension Plan, the pension plan in place in August 1972 when 

Plaintiffs’ employment and participation began, entitled a participant to a separated 

deferred pension if he had ten years of “Continuous Service” from his/her first day 

of employment until the last day of employment. (SAC ¶¶ 29-31).  The 1976 

Pension Plan, which superseded the 1971 Pension Plan, credited service for vesting 

and benefit purposes on the basis of “Hours of Service” in a plan year which 

coincides with the calendar year.  (SAC ¶¶ 36-42).  Beginning January 1, 1976, 

participants were to be credited with one year of Vesting Service for each calendar 

year in which he or she completed 1,000 Hours of Service, the “1,000 Hour Rule”.   

(SAC ¶¶ 39, 42).  According to the 1976 Summary Plan Description “SPD” 

                                                           
11 Plaintiffs all began work in August 1972 and worked continuously until their last day of active 
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participants were to be credited with Vesting Service according to the 1000 Hour 

Rule or under prior Company pension plans— whichever was more favorable to 

the participant.  (SAC ¶ 39, 42). 

The 1976 Pension Plan was the first pension plan to utilize ERISA’s hours 

of service12 rules to calculate credited service time for vesting and benefits 

purposes on a calendar year basis. (SAC ¶ 36).  An Hour of Service is defined by 

the 1976 Pension Plan as an hour, for which an employee receives compensation, 

either directly or indirectly, for services rendered to the employer. Id.  Hours of 

service include: all overtime clock hours; hours of service required to be taken into 

account to satisfy federal military service laws . . . ; hours of absence from active 

work because of regular paid vacations or holidays; hours of absence from active 

work because of occupational or non-occupational illness or disability . . . or 

layoff. Id.  The 1976 SPD “YOUR BENEFITS Monsanto” states that terminated 

participants with ten years of Vesting Service are entitled to receive a deferred 

pension benefit starting at age 65 or earlier.  (SAC ¶ 63).  According to Section 1.1 

of the 1976 Pension Plan Plaintiffs rights and benefits were to be determined under 

the 1976 Pension Plan or under subsequent amendments unless required by 

applicable law or regulation.    

                                                                                                                                                                                           
work in late February 1981 when the plant closed or thereafter.   
12 Under ERISA’s hours of service rules 1,000 hours of service equals a year of credited service. 
ERISA § 203. 
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F. The Closing 

“Old Monsanto” announced the closing of the Sand Mountain plant on or 

about January 13, 1981, “D-Day,” and production stopped in late February 1981, 

nine years after production at the plant began.  (SAC ¶ 59).  On D-Day members of 

Monsanto’s management held meetings in shifts with employees to discuss 

benefits, the layoff, and the plant’s closure.  The 1976 Pension Plan was in place in 

February 1981 when the plant closed and participants were directed to review their 

1976 SPD “YOUR BENEFITS . . . Monsanto” for answers to their pension 

questions.  (SAC ¶ 69).    

Plaintiffs and others were all placed on “layoff” status for one year with a 

three year call back period when the Sand Mountain plant closed. (SAC ¶ 61).  

Monsanto chose to eliminate nonexempt employees’ and most exempt employees’ 

jobs when it closed the Sand Mountain plant permitting only upper management 

and professional employees to transfer.  After the Sand Mountain plant closed the 

Monsanto Plant in Decatur, Alabama acted as a Resource Center for Sand 

Mountain employees who continued to work.  (SAC ¶¶ 102-3).  When the plant 

closed all records and documents including but not limited to punch cards, pay 

records, overtime records, personnel files, notices, SPDs, plan documents, and 

operational documents were sent to the Decatur plant.  Id.  

Monsanto automatically terminated Sand Mountain employees at the 
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expiration of the one-year “layoff” period, at which time they received a form for 

final distribution from their Savings Investment Plan “SIP”.  Records maintained 

by “Old Monsanto” for some terminated employees hired in August 1972 show 

adjusted termination dates reflecting ten years of credited service under the 1976 

Pension Plan.13  The 1976 SPD “YOUR BENEFITS Monsanto” states “forfeitures 

are applied to reduce future Company contributions”.   

G. Requirements For Qualified Defined Pension Plans 

A defined benefit pension plan is a qualified plan for favorable tax treatment 

pursuant to Internal Revenue Code Section 410(b)(1)(B) only if “it covers a broad 

cross section of employees such that there is no discrimination in favor of 

employees who are officers, shareholders, or highly compensated”, “HCEs”.  IRS 

Pub 794.  A crucial aspect of ERISA is its reporting and disclosure rules which 

require separated participants with a deferred vested benefit to be reported on the 

plan’s annual returns Schedule SSA (Form 5500) for the protection of participant’s 

property rights, to ensure adequate funding for the plan, to ensure adequate 

coverage by the Pension Benefit Guarantee Corporation “PBGC”, and to ensure 

plans are operated and managed in accordance with ERISA and IRC standards.  

ERISA §§ 101, 102, 104; Form 5500s.  ERISA requires plan administrators to 

verify annual returns and SSA Schedules under penalty of perjury to ensure 

                                                           
13 Plaintiffs have received only two personnel files from Defendants, the personnel file for 
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participants receive their pension benefit at retirement.  Exh. B.   

Once a participant’s eligibility for a separated deferred vested benefit has 

been determined at separation and reported on Schedule SSA Form 5500, the plan 

administrator cannot revisit eligibility.  ERISA §§ 101, 102, 104.  According to 

Internal Revenue Service “IRS” Publication 794 (1982):  “Allocation of 

forfeitures.  If employee turnover results in the allocation of forfeitures principally 

to officers, shareholders, and highly compensated employees, a favorable 

determination will not apply.”  IRS Pub. 794.  ERISA § 302(c)(8) and IRC § 

412(c)(8) permit plan amendments adopted after the close of a plan year to be 

retroactively applied to the first day of the plan year but if and only if the 

amendment does not reduce any participants’ accrued benefit determined as of 

the beginning of the plan year to which the amendment applies AND does not 

reduce the accrued benefit of any participant determined as of the time of the 

adoption of the amendment.  ERISA § 302(c)(8).  Although ERISA and the IRC 

permit an amendment adopted after the close of the plan year to have a retroactive 

effective date to the first of the plan year it cannot reduce the accrued benefit of 

any participant.  ERISA § 203(a)(3)(C).  An amendment permitted under ERISA § 

302(c)(8) that does reduce the accrued benefit of any participants “shall not take 

effect unless the plan administrator files a notice with the Secretary of Labor 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
Robert Heptinstall and Wendell F. Gilley, plaintiff in Gilley v. Monsanto.   
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notifying him of such amendment and the Secretary of Labor has approved such 

amendment . . . No amendment described in this subsection shall be approved by 

the Secretary of Labor unless he determines that such amendment is necessary 

because of substantial business hardship.”  IRC § 412(c)(8).  Amendments that 

modify and change the plan in such a way that affects participants’ benefits and 

rights under the plan are required by ERISA to be filed with the Secretary and 

summary descriptions must be furnished to participants.  ERISA §§ 102.  ERISA 

requires that SPDs be furnished to participants and the Secretary within 120 days 

of the plan being subject to ERISA’s reporting and disclosure requirements.  

ERISA § 102. ERISA and the IRC require plan administrators to allow 

participants’ with significant service to elect to have their nonforfeitable 

percentage of accrued benefit computed under the previous vesting schedule if the 

vesting schedule is changed by amendment.  ERISA § 203.  To maintain the plan’s 

favorable tax status generally plan administrators automatically choose the vesting 

schedule that yields the highest nonforfeitable percentage when a plans’ vesting 

schedule is amended to prevent forfeiture of non-HCEs’ benefits in favor of HCEs 

thereby avoiding issues of discrimination.  26 C.F.R. § 1.401(a)(4)(11)(c). 

H.  Violation of ERISA 

The plan administrator for “Old Monsanto” did not report any salaried 

nonexempt participants with a known deferred vested benefit who were terminated 
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from Sand Mountain on Schedule SSA Form 5500 on the 1980 annual return, the 

1981 annual return filed July 27, 1982, or the 1982 annual return filed July 1983.14  

(SAC 73-75); see also ERISA §§ 101-104; Department of Treasury, Department of 

Labor, and Internal Revenue Service “IRS”— Form 5500s Schedule SSA “Annual 

Registration Statement Identifying Separated Participants with Deferred Vested 

Benefit”; IRS Publication 794.   

The plan administrator for “Old Monsanto” reported a few team-leaders, 

bottom tier managers, entitled to a known separated deferred vested benefit on 

Schedule SSA; some were reported in 1981 while others were reported in 1982.  

(SAC ¶ 76).  The Sand Mountain plant at peak production employed a work force 

of approximately 1200, and when the Sand Mountain plant closed there were at 

least 660 employees still working yet only approximately 30 employees with a 

separated deferred vested benefit were reported.15    

Monsanto’s Board of Directors at its January 23, 1981, Board Meeting took 

the first step towards formally amending the plan by approving in principle the 

1981 Pension Plan.  The 1976 Pension Plan was amended, restated and continued 

as the “1981 Monsanto Company Salaried Employees’ Pension Plan,” the “1981 

Pension Plan,” in 1982 after Plaintiffs and other nonexempt employees who 

                                                           
14 Nonexempt non-HCE participants with a known separated vested benefit under the terms of 
the 1981 Pension Plan who separated from the Sand Mountain plant were not reported. 
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worked at the Sand Mountain plant were terminated. (SAC ¶ 69); ERISA § 

302(c)(8).   The 1981 Pension Plan adopted in 1982 incorporated the 95 Hour 

Rule. (SAC ¶ 68). The process of adopting a formal plan amendment is a multiple 

step process that can take a year or more.  Because “Old Monsanto” wanted to 

maintain a favorable tax status for the trust it required approval of amendments by 

the IRS and favorable determination letters to be received before the amendment 

was considered formally adopted.   

Plaintiffs and other former Sand Mountain employees were never furnished 

with SPDs for the 1981 Plan. (SAC ¶¶ 70-1); see also ERISA §§ 102.  Nonexempt 

employees/participants formerly employed at the Sand Mountain plant did not 

receive information regarding their pension benefits after leaving the plant as 

required by ERISA.16  ERISA § 104.  “Old Monsanto’s” plan administrator 

adopted the 1981 Pension Plan, in 1982, giving it a retroactive effective date of 

January 1, 1981, in accordance with ERISA § 302(c)(8).  Twenty years after-the-

fact Defendants insist the 1981 Pension Plan, a plan adopted after Plaintiffs’ were 

no longer employed, controls a determination of their credited service.  

                                                                                                                                                                                           
15 Neither Plaintiffs nor any other nonexempt non-HCE employees were reported on Schedule 
SSA Form 5500 for 1979, 1980, 1981, and/or 1982 as being separated participants with a 
deferred vested benefit.   
16 Because some but not all former Sand Mountain employees who were entitled to a deferred 
vested benefit are receiving their pension benefit from Solutia it is impossible to discern whether 
Pharmacia/Monsanto/Solutia has possession and control of their property.  In any case, 
exhaustion in regards to Solutia is futile as Solutia as a successor entity of Pharmacia f/k/a 
Monsanto would rely on the 1981 Plan adopted after Plaintiffs were terminated.  
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(Memorandum in Support of Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Second Amended 

Complaint “MD” at pp. 3-5, 7- 9; R 83; The Solutia Defendants’ Memorandum in 

Support of Motion to Dismiss Second Amended Complaint “SMD”). 

I. Plaintiff Robert Heptinstall’s Inquiry  

Plaintiff, Robert Heptinstall, inquired about his vested benefit over the 

telephone with a representative of Defendants as other Sand Mountain employees 

have done.  (SAC ¶ 77).  By letter dated February 12, 2004, Robert Heptinstall was 

notified he did not meet the necessary service requirements to accrue a vested 

benefit because he accrued only 9.685 years of vesting service. (SAC ¶ 78).  The 

letter of February 12, 2004, did not notify Robert Heptinstall of the reason for the 

decision and failed to advise him of his right to review as required by ERISA § 

503(1) & (2).  (SAC ¶ 79). 

On or about January 23, 2006, Robert Heptinstall filed a request for review 

of the denial of his rightful pension benefit with the Pharmacia/Monsanto17 

Employee Benefits Committee.  (SAC ¶ 80).  The Secretary of the Committee by 

letter dated March 10, 2006, explained how the plan administrator determined 

Robert Heptinstall’s vesting service under the 1981 Plan:  

Hire date               August 30, 1972 
Termination from layoff             March 31, 1982 

                                                           
17Pharmacia/Monsanto refers to a contributing sponsor of the plan or a member of such a 
contributing sponsor’s controlled group. 
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Vesting Service 1972   0.411 years (9 x 95 =    
       855/2080) 

Vesting Service 1973-1981  9.000 years 
Vesting Service 1982   0.274 years 
Total Vesting Service   9.685 years 

The Secretary of the Committee recalculated Robert Heptinstall’s credited service 

using a termination from layoff date of January 1, 1982: 

Hire date      August 30, 1972 
Layoff date     February 27, 1981 
Termination from layoff   January 1, 1982 
Vesting Service 1972   0.411 years (9 X 95 =    

       855/2080) 
Vesting Service 1973-1981  9.0     years 
Vesting Service 1982   0.046 years (Based on January   

       1, 1982 termination date) 
Total Vesting Service   9.457 years 

(SAC ¶ 84). 
 

In support of his review by the Committee Robert Heptinstall submitted an 

outline of his credited service under the 1976 Pension Plan, the plan in place when 

he went on “layoff” and the plan in place when he was terminated, a certified copy 

of his Social Security earnings for calendar year 1972, a sworn affidavit stating his 

base pay, and a record of all hours worked on the B Shift for calendar year 1972.  

(SAC ¶ 86).  The Committee admitting Robert Heptinstall’s termination date was 

adjusted to November 1, 1982, denied Robert Heptinstall his separated deferred 

vested pension benefit even though he had ten years of service under the 1976 

Pension Plan.  (SAC ¶ 88).  The Committee steadfastly supported the plan 
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administrator’s decision not to apply the terms of the 1976 Pension Plan that was 

in place when Robert Heptinstall went on “layoff” in early 1981 and in 1982 when 

he was terminated. (SAC ¶¶ 90-94).   

J. Plaintiffs Vesting Service Under the 1976 Pension Plan 

Plaintiffs and other nonexempt employees working at the Sand Mountain 

plant had 1000 Hours of Service in calendar year 1972 under the terms of the 1976 

Pension Plan entitling them to one year of credited service for 1972.  (SAC ¶¶ 56-

7); see also ERISA § 203(b)(2)(A).  Plaintiffs and other nonexempt employees had 

eight years of credited service from January 1, 1973 through December 31, 1980 

under the terms of the 1976 Pension Plan. (SAC ¶ 58).  The 1976 Pension Plan 

credited a year of service for “layoff”.  (SAC ¶ 60).  Plaintiffs, in the event of 

“layoff”, had ten years of credited service for vesting purposes under the 1976 

Pension Plan entitling them to a deferred vested benefit as of December 31, 1980. 

(SAC ¶ 64).   

ARGUMENT 

A. Legal Standard for Motions to Dismiss 

 A motion pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) should only be granted in very limited 

situations.  In Brooks v. Blue Cross/Blue Shield of Fla. the Eleventh Circuit 

reiterated the stringent standard set by the Supreme Court in Conley stating:  

“[T]he ‘accepted rule’ for appraising the sufficiency of a complaint is ‘that a 
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complaint should not be dismissed for failure to state a claim unless it appears 

beyond doubt that the Plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim 

which would entitle him to relief.’”  Brooks v. Blue Cross/Blue Shield of Fla 116 

F.3d 1364, 1369 (11th Cir. 1997).  See e.g., Madison v. Purdy, 410 F.2d 99,100 

(5th Cir. 1969); International Erectors, Inc. v. Wilhoit Steel Erectors & Rental 

Serv., 400 F.2d 465, 471 (5th Cir. 1968) (“Dismissal of a claim on the basis of 

barebone pleadings is a precarious disposition with a high mortality rate.”). “The 

pleadings must show, in short, that the Plaintiffs have no claim before the 12(b)(6) 

motion may be granted.” Brooks, 116 F.3d at 1369.  

B. Exhaustion 

"ERISA nowhere mentions the exhaustion doctrine", rather it is a judicial 

innovation much like the arbitrary and capricious standard fashioned with an eye 

toward permitting fiduciaries "'to expertly and efficiently manage their funds by 

preventing premature judicial intervention in their decision-making processes.'"18 

Amato v. Bernard, 618 F.2d 559, 567 (9th Cir. 1980).  While the Circuits are split 

on the issue of when and what type of claims can be barred for failure to exhaust, 

the Eleventh Circuit stands only with the Seventh Circuit in maintaining that 

failing to exhaust administrative remedies is a bar to the federal court’s 

intervention unless excused in the court’s discretion or if resorting to 
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administrative remedies would be futile or the remedy inadequate.  Mason v. 

Continental Group, Inc., 763 F.2d 1219, 1225-27 (11th Cir.1985); Curry v. 

Contract Fabricators, Inc. Profit Sharing Plan, 891 F.2d 842, 846 (11th Cir.1990); 

see also Kross v. Western Electric Co., 701 F.2d 1238 (7th Cir. 1983); Cf. 

Lindemann v. Mobil Oil Corp., 79 F.3d 647, 649-50 (7th Cir. 1996). 

Other circuits view the exhaustion of administrative remedies requirement as 

a prerequisite to a suit only if the action involves no allegations of ERISA 

violation.  See Madera v. Marsh USA, Inc. 426 F.3d 56 (1st Cir. 2005)(Circuit 

requiring exhaustion of administrative remedies only for contractual claims under 

ERISA § 502(a)(1)(B) that involve a fiduciaries’ discretion); Nechis v. Oxford 

Health Plans, Inc., 421 F.3d 96 (2nd Cir. 2005)(Circuit requiring exhaustion only 

for claim for benefits and discussing split in circuits in regards to exhaustion of 

both statutory and contractual); Smith v. Sydnor, 184 F.3d 356, 364-65 (4th Cir. 

1999); Chailland v. Brown & Root, Inc., 45 F.3d 947 (5th Cir. 1995); Richards v. 

General Motors Corp., 991 F.2d 1227 (6th Cir. 1993); Held v. Manufacturers 

Hanover Leasing Corp., 912 F.2d 1197 (10th Cir. 1999); Zipf v. American 

Telephone & Telegraph Co., 799 F.2d 889, 891-92 (3d Cir. 1986); Amaro v. 

Continental Can Co., 724 F.2d 747, 749-50 (9th Cir. 1984).  The rule followed by 

a majority of circuits excuse exhaustion when the complaint contains allegations of 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
18 Expertly and efficiently manage their funds does not mean that pensions are gratuities to be 
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violation of ERISA in the operation of an alleged qualified plan because Courts 

and not plan administrators determine statutory issues.   

1. Defendants’ Position  

Pharmacia/Monsanto/Solutia declare that Gilley v. Monsanto stands for the 

proposition that plan administrators and fiduciaries are free to interpret ERISA and 

the Court is limited to a review of their actions under the arbitrary and capricious 

standard giving them complete deference.  (MD at pp. 3, 11; SMD at p. 3).  

Defendants insist all Plaintiffs’ claims should be dismissed because Gilley v. 

Monsanto stands for the proposition that plan administrators have complete 

discretion in regards to the award of pension benefits i.e. retirement like 

employment is at will.  Defendants insist plan administrators are free to ignore 

ERISA and at the corporate sponsor’s behest select any equivalency at any time to 

cause forfeiture of non-HCE benefits to reduce future contributions by the 

corporate sponsor to fund HCE retirees.  Defendants one and all to date have 

maintained the 1981 Plan, adopted in 1982 and made retroactively effective to 

January 1, 1981, under ERISA § 302(c)(8), is applicable to a determination of 

Plaintiffs’ vesting status.  (MD at pp. 3, 11).  There is no reason Solutia would do 

anything different.  According to Defendants’ theory of the case the Court, 

contrary to the written statutory law, should dismiss Plaintiffs’ claims for pension 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
awarded at the discretion of the employer. 
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benefits employing whatever judicial innovation that is necessary, standing, 

collateral estoppel, statute of limitations, and/or exhaustion.  Id.   

Plaintiffs maintain Gilley v. Monsanto was limited in its holding to a very 

narrow issue “whether Gilley had a discretionary claim for benefits under the 1981 

Plan”.19  There are at least two reasons why Gilley v. Monsanto is precluded from 

applying here 1) the issues were not identical and 2) all the issues have not been 

fully and fairly litigated at the present time. Wingard v. Emerald Venture Florida 

LLC., 438 F.3d 1288 (11th Cir. 2006).  No court has addressed Gilley’s claims 

under ERISA § 502(a)(2) and § 502(a)(3) for discrimination, intentional 

interference, breach of fiduciary duty, lack of notice, and complete violation of 

ERISA in the operation of the plan.     

2. Plaintiffs’ Position 

Plaintiffs maintain Congress passed ERISA to prevent forfeiture of pension 

benefits and to regulate pension and welfare plans to protect the rights of 

participants, the American people.  Accordingly, it is for this reason administrative 

review of Plaintiffs’ claims by Defendants is futile.  Plaintiffs maintain that the 

applicable law or regulation determines their right to their nonforfeitable accrued 

benefit under the 1976 Pension Plan not Defendants.  Plaintiffs maintain this is so 

whether Pharmacia a/k/a “Old Monsanto”, “New Monsanto” or Solutia are 

                                                           
19 The Court dismissed Gilley v. Monsanto based on a lack of standing.   
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reviewing the claims for pension benefits because ERISA does not permit sponsors 

to operate alleged qualified plans as a de facto “top-hat” plan with all the tax 

breaks.  Plaintiffs maintain “though the general rule in our circuit is that ERISA 

Plaintiffs must exhaust administrative remedies before bringing suit, it is also well-

established that "[t]he decision of a district court to apply or not apply the 

exhaustion of administrative remedies requirement for ERISA claims is a highly 

discretionary decision which we review only for a clear abuse of discretion."  

Springer v. Wal-Mart Assocs.' Group Health Plan, 908 F.2d 897, 899 (11th Cir. 

1990)). Excusal of the exhaustion requirement is appropriate "when resort to the 

administrative remedies would be futile or the remedy inadequate." Oliver v.  Coca 

Cola CO.; 497 F.3d 1181 (11th Cir. 2007) citing Counts v. Am. Gen. Life & 

Accident Ins. Co., 111 F.3d 105, 108 (11th Cir. 1997).  These are not claims for 

benefits that can be addressed by the plan administrator.20  The Court’s role is to 

determine issues of statutory interpretation and not whether the plan administrator 

acted within his/her discretion.  Accordingly, Plaintiffs Larry Collins, Wendell 

Sims, Fred Works, Thomas Campbell, and Russell Newman believe it is futile to 

ask for further administrative review by these Defendants. 

C. Appropriate Equitable Relief   

Plaintiffs individually and on behalf of other similarly situated participants 

                                                           
20 Plaintiffs’ motion to compel and motion for sanctions is presently before the Court.   
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seek to clarify rights to future benefits Under ERISA § 502(a)(1)(B) and to 

“appropriate equitable relief” Under ERISA § 502(a)(3) in light of Defendants’ 

actions taken to intentionally deny non-HCE participants’ their rightful property.   

Plaintiffs and all other similarly situated participants are entitled to 100 percent of 

their accrued benefit derived from Monsanto’s contributions in light of their 

fulfillment of the service requirements under the terms of the 1976 Pension Plan.  

Additionally, Plaintiffs individually and on behalf of other similarly situated 

participants seek to enjoin Acts and Practices in violation of ERISA Under Section 

502(a)(3)(A) and Under Section 502(a)(3)(B) to obtain “other appropriate 

equitable relief” (i) to redress such violations and (ii) to enforce provisions of 

ERISA, including but not limited to Acts and Practices taken by Defendants in the 

operation of the plan that violate ERISA §§ 101-4, 203, 204, 302, 404, Under 

ERISA Sections  502, 510, and 409.   Defendants’ argue Section 502(a)(1)(B) is 

not a proper remedial section for Plaintiffs to raise their claims regarding the 

improper application of the 1981 Pension Plan to a determination of their rights.  

Plaintiffs agree they have no benefits under the 1981, but this section also permits 

ERISA plaintiffs to clarify their rights and benefits under the “plan.”  The term 

“plan” is defined by ERISA as any “‘employee benefit plan’” or “plan” meaning 

an employee welfare benefit plan or an employee pension benefit plan or a plan 

which is both an employee welfare benefit plan and an employee pension benefit 
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plan.””  ERISA § 3(3).  The term “employee pension benefit plan” and “pension 

plan” mean “any plan, fund, or program which was heretofore or is hereafter 

established or maintained by an employer or by an employee organization, or by 

both, to the extent that by its express terms or as a result of surrounding 

circumstances such plan, fund, or program – (i) provides retirement income to 

employees, or (ii) results in a deferral of income by employees for periods 

extending to the termination of covered employment or beyond, . . . regardless of 

the method of calculating the contributions made to the plan, the method of 

calculating the benefits under the plan or the method of distributing benefits from 

the plan.”  ERISA § 3(2)(A). 

Plaintiffs seek clarification of their rights and benefits under the employee 

pension plan maintain by “Old” Monsanto, the Monsanto Pension Plan.  Plaintiffs 

are not seeking to reform the 1981 Pension Plan as Defendants insist, but rather are 

seeking clarification regarding rights and benefits under the terms of the 1976 

Pension Plan instead of the 1981 Pension Plan.  ERISA § 202 (a)(3)(A); § 

203(a)(2)(A), § 203(a)(3)(C); §§ 203(b)(1) & (b)(2)(A); § 203(c)(1)(A), § 

203(c)(1)(B); § 204(b)(1)(C) & (G). 

D. Restitution 

The funds held in trust are the property of plan participants who have met 

the service requirements of the written plan.  LANGBEIN, JOHN H. & BRUCE A. 
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WOLK, PENSION AND EMPLOYEE BENEFIT LAW 17 ¶ 4 (3rd ed. 2000).  Once 

participants have completed the service requirements as setout in the written plan 

applicable to their tenure for the employer, in the instant case the 1976 Pension 

Plan, the employer has no property interest in the funds held in trust which belong 

to qualified participants.  Rochester Corp. v. Rochester, 450 F.2d 118 (4th Cir. 

1971) (“By rendering service for the period required under the plan, the employee's 

rights to benefits under the plan are ‘earned no less than the salary paid to him (the 

employee) each pay period’ and are ‘in the nature of delayed compensation for 

former years of faithful service’")(internal cites omitted).  Funds held in the 

Monsanto Master Retirement Trust and/or the Solutia Master Trust are in the 

possession and control of contributing sponsors21 include deferred compensation 

earned by Plaintiffs as part of their compensation as employees of “Old 

Monsanto”.  Pharmacia/Monsanto/Solutia, as fiduciaries, have a duty to hold 

Plaintiffs’ deferred compensation until they reach retirement age or earlier if the 

plan allows.  Plaintiffs and the class seek restitution of their nonforfeitable 

separated deferred vested benefit i.e. “deferred compensation” held in trusts 

maintained by Pharmacia/Monsanto/Solutia.    

Defendants’ reliance on Katz and Ogden is circular and leads to foreclosure 

                                                           
21 Because persons associated with Pharmacia a/k/a “Old Monsanto” and new Monsanto and 
Solutia are contributing sponsors of the plan or members of such a contributing sponsor’s 
controlled group Plaintiffs’ refer to them collectively “Pharmacia/Monsanto/Solutia”.   
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of judicial review like all their other arguments on standing, exhaustion, and the 

statute of limitation etc.  Essentially, Defendants insist ERISA plaintiffs are only 

permitted to plead under ERISA § 502(a)(1)(B) where utilizing their discretion 

they will determine if they have violated the law and not the courts. Katz v. 

Comprehensive Plan of Group Insurance, Alltel, 197 F.3d 1084 (11th Cir. 1999); 

Ogden v. Blue Bell Creameries, U.S.A., Inc., 348 F.3d 12 (11th Cir. 2003).  

Defendants’ hold Plaintiffs’ property in trust, and “but for” Defendants’ violation 

of ERISA Plaintiffs’ would be receiving their accrued benefit.  Plaintiffs cannot be 

foreclosed from bringing a claim for restitution of their property under ERISA 

Section 502(a)(3) and/or to clarify their entitlement to benefits under Section 

502(a)(1)(B) because to do so would be tantamount to equating ERISA to the 

gratuity theory of pensions through the use of circular logic.  This would nullify 

ERISA.  Jones v. American General Life and Accident, 370 F.3d 1065 (11th Cir. 

2004).   

ERISA § 510 Discrimination and Intentional Interference 

The intricate complex well drafted statutory based law of ERISA does not 

contain a statute of limitations for ERISA § 510 claims.  ERISA § 510.  The 

regulation of pension plans under ERISA is unique.  Acts and omissions in 

violation of the law that took place 20 or 30 years ago will go undetected until 

participants seek their property at retirement age.  Congress recognized that to 
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incorporate a statute of limitations into Part 5 “Administration and Enforcement” 

of ERISA would foreclose the only avenue a participant has to restitution of his 

rightful property in the event the plan administrator denies pension benefits in the 

sponsor’s profit interest.22  In the instant action, Defendants “fiduciaries” acted in 

the interest of shareholders, officers, and other highly compensated employees by 

employing a scheme to defraud non-HCE participants of the Monsanto Pension 

Plan of their rightful property, a scheme that involved much more than the 

termination of the employment relationship.  The scheme to make an end-run 

around ERISA included but was not limited to closing the plant, simultaneously 

amending the vesting schedule to purposely cause forfeiture of non-HCE’s pension 

benefits, failing to report non-HCEs with deferred vested benefits, failing to 

furnish SPDs and benefit statement over the years, failing to acknowledge non-

HCEs with a deferred vested benefit by revisiting eligibility, initiating litigation to 

establish precedent to deny all similarly situated participants etc.    

Courts have borrowed statute of limitations from state law as a judicial 

innovation for barring suit in federal court when there is a mere allegation of 

wrongful discharge.  Musick v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., Inc., 81 F.3d 136 

(11th Cir. 1996); Byrd v. Macpapers Inc, 961 F.2d 157 (11th Cir. 1992).  In the 

instant action, however, to do so would bar recovery to an entire class of 

                                                           
22 Congress in Part 4 incorporated a statute of limitations so its failure to include a statute of 
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participants that were entitled to their rightful property when the plant was closed 

in 1981.  If a statute of limitations is incorporated by judicial fiat to bar Plaintiffs’ 

claims to recovery then Congresses’ intent to prevent forfeitures has been thwarted 

and Defendants permitted to make an end-run around ERISA.  Plaintiffs’ claims 

allege fiduciaries enacted a scheme involving multiple acts in violation of ERISA 

to intentionally interfere with vested rights and benefits discriminating against non-

HCEs converting an alleged qualified plan into a de facto “top-hat” plan with all 

the perks in the interest of HCEs. Christopher v. MOBIL Oil Corp. 950 F.2d 1209 

(5th Cir. 1992) citing Amalgamated Clothing and Textile Workers v. Murdock, 861 

F.2d 1406, 1418 (9th Cir.1988) ("It would be ironic if the very acts of benefit 

payment . . . that allegedly resulted in a fiduciary personally obtaining ill-gotten 

profits should also serve to deny plan beneficiaries standing . . . to redress the 

fiduciaries' alleged breach of the duty of loyalty.").    

Solutia, as if it is somehow an unrelated third party, argues that Plaintiffs 

have no claim under Section 510 against them because the plant was closed in 

1981 fifteen years before Solutia came into existence.  Solutia, however, came into 

existence at Monsanto’s discretion.  Parent-subsidiary and brother-sister entities 

such as Defendants are joint and severally liable for pension claims and violations 

pursuant to ERISA and the IRC.  See generally ERISA § 4001(a)(14), 29 U.S.C. § 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
limitations in Part 5 was not accidental.  
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1301(a)(14); IRC § 414(b), (c), 26 U.S.C. § 414(b), (c).  At its inception Solutia 

consisted of all employees or former employees of Monsanto’s chemical business.  

(Exh. A-F).  Employees’ and former employees’ vested deferred compensation 

formerly held in the Monsanto Retirement Master Trust attributable to its chemical 

group is now in the Solutia Master Trust controlled by the Solutia Pension Plan.  

Id.  Plaintiffs are all former employees of Monsanto’s chemical business a 

controlled group of corporations that includes Solutia f/d/b/a Monsanto Company, 

Inc., Pharmacia f/k/a Monsanto Company, Inc., and Monsanto “Ag” Company, 

Inc, p/k/a Monsanto Company, Inc.23  Defendants cannot continue to pass the 

charade of separate entities off as legitimate legal representation when there is so 

much evidence to the contrary as a matter of public record.24  (Exh. A-F; see also 

29 U.S.C. §§ 1301-1461 (2000 & Supp. 1 2001) (“ERISA”)).  Contributing 

                                                           
23 The Court can take judicial notice of public security filings and Form 5500s establishing 
Solutia’s assumption of accrued net pension liability from Monsanto and the Monsanto Pension 
Plan attributable to Monsanto’s chemical business. Solutia Form 10-Q (1997) states “On July 10, 
1997, management approved the asset and liability allocation which set forth the assets 
contributed to Solutia and the liabilities assumed by Solutia in connection with the Spinoff. 
Included in those assets and liabilities are the following material items which were not included 
in the accompanying Statement of Consolidated Financial Position as of December 31, 1996: a 
joint venture interest in the Company's elemental phosphorus business, cash of $75 million, debt 
of $1.029 billion, accrued net pension liability for the U.S. defined benefit pension plans, and 
additional obligations for healthcare and other post-retirement benefits.  
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1043382/0000950114-97-000468-index.html.  
24Pharmacia Corporation and Monsanto Company, Inc. in exchange for common stock assumed 
legacy liabilities for Solutia as part of its Chapter 11 reorganization.  See US Bankruptcy Court 
for the Southern District of New York Case Number 03-17949(PCB), Judge Prudence Carter 
Beatty presiding. See Docket # 3974 Monsanto Settlement and the Retiree Settlement; Doc # 
3541 Stipulation Between Solutia and Official Committee of Retirees; Doc # 1423 Notice by 
PBGC attached herein Exh. F.  The Retiree Committee consisted of former HCEs of “Old” 
Monsanto including the former plant manager at the Sand Mountain plant, Larry Baird. 
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sponsors of Pharmacia/Monsanto/Solutia are all jointly and severally liable to 

Plaintiffs and the class and the plan for their violation of ERISA and the IRC by 

operating an alleged qualified defined pension plan in a discriminatory manner by 

intentionally causing forfeiture of non-HCE benefits.  ERISA § 4062. 

F. Claims Under Section 502(a)(3) and 502(a)(2) Are Timely 

Plaintiffs’ claims are timely under Section 413 because officers, 

shareholders, and other highly compensated employees of Defendant corporations 

have as a matter of corporate culture operated the alleged qualified defined benefit 

pension plan as a tax free vehicle in their own interest and the last act or action 

taken which constitutes a part of the breach or violation has not yet occurred.  

ERISA § 413 and § 4062.  

G. Fiduciary Duty Section 502(a)(2) 

Defendants argue Plaintiffs’ Section 502(a)(2) claim as representative 

participants on behalf of the Monsanto Pension Plan and its successor plan the 

Solutia Pension Plan should be dismissed because this claim mirrors Plaintiffs’ 

Section 502(a)(1)(B) claim.  Plaintiffs, as representative participants on behalf of 

the Monsanto/Solutia Pension Plans, are not seeking individual relief under this 

section but instead seek relief for the plan.   

One example of specific relief sought on behalf of the plan is removal of any 

and all fiduciaries who have acted contrary to participants’ interest.  This type of 
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remedial relief is the only relief that will redress the injury suffered for fiduciaries 

operating an alleged qualified defined benefit pension plan in a discriminatory 

manner in favor of HCEs.   Plaintiffs’ nonforfeitable benefit under the 1976 

Monsanto Pension Plan, a single-employer pension plan under ERISA, is 

guaranteed by any person who is a contributing sponsor of the plan or a member of 

such a contributing sponsor’s controlled group.  ERISA § 4022.   Notice to the 

Pension Benefit Guarantee Corporation “PBGC” to initiate any and all procedures 

within its authority to redress deficiency resulting from the operation of the plan in 

violation of ERISA is appropriate.  ERISA 29 U.S.C. §§ 1301-1461 (2000 & Supp. 

1 2001); see specifically ERISA § 4001(a)(13),(14),(18); 412; IRC § 414(b)(c); 

Exh. F.      

H. Wrongful Reduction of Nonforfeitable Accrued Benefits 

 Defendants, contrary to the allegations of the second amended complaint 

which must be taken as true on a motion to dismiss, argue Plaintiffs’ claims under 

Section 204(g) must be dismissed because this section deals with accrued benefits 

and not credited service.  Plaintiffs, however, aver their nonforfeitable accrued 

benefit was reduced from 100 percent to zero.  (SAC ¶ 139).  Plaintiffs’ were fully 

vested under the 1976 Pension Plan, and “but for” Defendants’ violation of ERISA 

and revisiting eligibility under an amendment adopted after their termination they 

would be receiving their accrued benefit.  Taking this allegation as fact, as the 
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Court must on a motion to dismiss and because it is true, Plaintiffs are claiming 

their nonforfeitable accrued benefit was reduced from 100 percent to zero by an 

amendment adopted in 1982.  ERISA § 203(a)(3)(C).  

I. Equitable Estoppel 

Defendants insist Plaintiffs’ cannot plead alternatively for equitable estoppel 

under circuit precedent.  Defendants throughout this litigation and in Gilley have 

falsely maintained as a litigation strategy that the 1976 Plan utilized the “elapsed 

time” method. (MD at p. 17; SMD at p. 21).  The 1971 Pension Plan utilized the 

“continuous service” or “elapsed time” method of crediting service for vesting 

purposes.  (SAC § 33).  As the plan was amended and restated over time Monsanto 

added new and additional methods of determining credited service under the plan, 

the 1000 Hour Rule in 1976 and the 95 Hour equivalency in 1982.   (SAC ¶¶  34-

44, 68-71; see 1976 Plan and the 1981 Plan; R 83-2; 83-3; 83-6 to 83-8; see also 

ERISA § 3(2) & (3); R 83-6 at § 1.1).  Pursuant to ERISA and circuit precedent the 

plan document controls and sponsors are required to maintain certified copies of 

the plan documents in their permanent file.   Nachwalter v. Christie, 805 F.2d 956 

(11th Cir.  1986); Merritt v. Federal Express Corp., 185 Fed.Appx. 891 (11th Cir. 

06/27/2006)(Congress expressed its position that under ERISA oral and informal 

modifications of employee benefit plans are impermissible).  The 1976 SPD 

“YOUR BENEFITS Monsanto” identifies one and only one method of determining 
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hours of service, the 1000 Hour Rule.25 (SAC ¶ 42).  Defendants are estopped from 

inventing self serving facts regarding unwritten informal procedures contrary to the 

written plan to deny vested benefits.  Id.   

J. All Defendants Are Proper Defendants 

Defendants one and all in this action are proper Defendants pursuant to 

ERISA.  Defendants one and all represent persons who are contributing sponsors 

of the plan or are members of such a contributing sponsor’s controlled group who 

have taken steps to interfere with non-HCEs’ obtainment of their accrued benefit 

held in trust.  Defendants one and all have breached their fiduciary duty 

participants by operating and/or participating in a scheme to operate the plan in the 

interest of officers, shareholders, and other highly compensated employees by 

intentionally cause forfeiture of non-forfeitable accrued benefits to reduce future 

contributions to the plan.   

CONCLUSION 

Plaintiffs make no specific claim for benefits directly on an individual basis, 

but instead benefit from equitable and remedial relief pursuant to ERISA § 

502(a)(2) & (3) redressing violations of ERISA in the operation of an alleged 

qualified defined pension plan.  Plaintiffs also seek clarification of their benefits 

under the 1976 Monsanto Pension Plan.    

                                                           
25 Defendants as a litigation strategy have “self-styled” an informal procedure whereby hours of 
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Respectfully submitted,  

/s/ Elisa Smith Rives 
       Elisa Smith Rives  

    Attorney for Plaintiffs  
       ASB # -9351-E61R 
Elisa S. Rives, LLC 
2208 Ringold Street, Ste 103 
Guntersville, AL 35976 
Tel/Fax:  (256) 582-3559 
Cell: (256) 558-4626 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
The undersigned hereby certifies that a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing was served by the court’s electronic filing system on the following 
counsel of record, this 13th day of June, 2008. 

 
BAXLEY, DILLARD, DAUPHIN,   BRYAN CAVE, LLP 
McKNIGHT & BARCLIFT   Jeffrey S. Russell 
Donald R. James     Darci Madden 
Joel E. Dillard     211 N. Broadway 
2008 Third Avenue South    Suite 3600 
Birmingham, AL 35233    St. Louis, MO 63102 
 
LEWIS, RICE & FINGERSH, L.C.  WALSTON WELLS ANDERSON & 
David W. Gearhart     BAINS LLP 
Neal F. Perryman     J David Moore  
Robert J. Golterman    PO Box 830642  
500 North Broadway, Suite 2000  Birmingham, AL 35283-0642 
St. Louis, MO 63102 
 
            

 /s/ Elisa Smith Rives 
            Elisa Smith Rives 
            ASB # 9351-E61R 
            Tele/FAX (256) 582-3559  

                                                                                                                                                                                           
service are estimated under the 1000 Hour Rule as the “elapsed time” method. 
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